An Analysis of the Relationship Between Income, Gender, and Perception of Gun Violence in One's Local Community

by

Courtney Alexandra Hinrichs

Master of Public Health, California Baptist University, 2019

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Master of Public Health

California Baptist University

April 2019

The College of Health Science

California Baptist University

Riverside, California

This is to certify that the Master's Thesis of

Courtney Alexandra Hinrichs

has met the thesis requirements

for the degree of Master of Public Health

Approved by:

Ashley Parks, DrPH Committee Chair

Marshare Penny, DrPH

Committee Member

Lindsay Fahnestock, DrPH

Committee Member

Abstract

Gun violence has significant impacts on an individual's health and well-being. In 2017, Pew Research Center conducted a national probability-based online survey titled the American Trends Panel (ATP) Wave 25. The survey targeted adults living in households in the United States (Pew Research Center, 2017). This cross-sectional research study utilized the Pew Research Center's American Trends Panel to examine differences in local communities' perceived problem of gun violence between genders and income levels.

In this study, a Pearson Chi-Square was calculated analyzing gender and income level as variables predicting an individual's perception on the degree of the problem of gun violence in one's local community. It was found that perception of local community gun violence did not differ between genders. However, perception of local gun violence did significantly differ among income levels.

Key Words: gun, violence, policy, gender, income

Acknowledgments

First I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor Dr. Ashley Parks for her immense knowledge, support, patience and motivation. I would also like to deeply thank my committee members, Dr. Marshare Penny and Dr. Lindsay Fahnestock, for their thoughtful and insightful comments throughout my thesis project. To my family and friends, I want to thank you for your love, support and continuous motivation. I would not have been able to accomplish this without any of you.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	V
LIST OF TABLES	11
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	3
Introduction	3
Purpose of the Study	
Research Questions	
Hypothesis	8
METHOD	10
Design	10
Procedures	10
Participants	
Independent Variables and Dependent Variables	
Data Analysis	
RESEARCH ETHICS	
STATEMENT ABOUT IRB APPROVAL HERE	13
RESULTS	14
DISCUSSION	16
Summary of Major Findings	16
PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS	17
STUDY LIMITATIONS	18
REFERENCES	20
APPENDIX A: TABLES	27
APPENDIX B: IRB APPROVAL	30

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Table for American Trends Panel Wave 25	27
Table 2. Perception of Gun Violence in the Local Community by Gender	28
Table 3. Perception of Gun Violence in the Local Community by Income	29

Review of Literature

Introduction

In the United States, violence and death from firearms increases year after year (Center for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2016). Christoffel (2007) characterizes firearm violence as an endemic in the United States. In 2016, firearm deaths accounted for 38,658 deaths nationally (CDC, 2017). According to the CDC, in 2017 the death rate due to firearms reached a twenty year high with a total death count of 39,773 (CDC, 2019). Many political campaign promises from governors, senators, and presidential candidates prominently focus on crime, gun violence, and prevention of unintentional and intentional injuries (Lemieux, 2015). Lobbyists argue for protecting the Second Amendment, which states that "the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." Others lobby for restricting access to various types of guns available to be sold or owned by the general public (Lemieux, 2015). The issue of gun violence and the severity of the problem are greater than the data; there is importance in an individual's perception of the degree of gun violence.

Volume of Firearms and Violence

According to the Smalls Arms Survey (Karp, 2018), American civilians own 393 million guns, which is 83% of the US population (United States Census Bureau, 2019). More specifically, there are 64,380,440 million more guns than people. The US leads other countries in the crude rate of firearms in circulation among civilians (Karp, 2018). The US has 120.5 guns per 100 people (Karp, 2018). According to Parker, Horowitz, Igielnik, Oliphant, and Brown (2017), two-thirds of gun owners report owning more than one firearm and three out of ten gun owners report owning five or more firearms. Domestically, guns kill more people than any other weapon (Federal Bureau of Investigation, 2017). The rate of death and injury due to firearms is

higher in the United State than any other industrialized nation (Fleegler, Lee, Monuteaux, Hemenway & Mannis, 2013). Though gun ownership rates are higher in rural areas, homicide rates are disproportionately higher in urban areas, which is attributed to easier accessibility of both illegal and legal guns (Downey, Zun, Burke & Jefferson, 2013).

In the US, 44% of adults report knowing someone who has been shot, either intentionally or accidentally (Parker et al., 2017). Additionally, 23% of US adults report that either they themselves or someone in their family has been victimized by someone with a gun (Parker et al., 2017). Non-fatal and fatal injuries caused by firearms are increasing annually, particularity among youth (Madenci & Weldon, 2013). According to Madenci and Weldon (2013), over the last decade, deaths of children due to firearms increased by 60% and hospitalization of adolescents due to firearms increase by 80%. Additionally, 5.3% of adolescents grade 9-12 reported carrying a gun within the last 30 days, with prevalence higher in males at 8.7% than females at 1.6% (CDC, 2016). Lastly, in 2014 86% of victims ages 10 to 24 were killed with a firearm (CDC, 2016).

Perception of Violence

Lian, Abiero and Kamara (2017) conducted a Gallup poll of adolescences in low-income communities. Lian et al. found a statistically significant relationship between the presence of a gun in the home of an adolescent and the participant's attitude toward general violence.

Additionally, male and female participants who reported guns in the home also self-reported a higher prevalence of physical fighting and suspension from school in comparison to those who reported no gun in the home (Lian, Abiero, & Kamara, 2017). Furthermore, female adolescents who reported a gun in the home also reported a lower level of self-worth but higher score towards attitude for violence as compared to females who did not report a gun in the home (Lian

et al., 2017). The research conducted by Lain et al. illustrates the relationship between the presence of a firearm in a home and youth perception and attitude towards violence.

Perception of neighborhood safety is recognized to have a strong association on health (Zuberi, 2018). Additionally, feeling unsafe is related to social isolation, distrust, and decreased personal freedom (Zuberi, 2018). Likewise, feeling safe is related to positive effects on wellness (Farver, Ghosh, & Garcia, 2000). According to Diaz and Whitaker (2013), individuals living in neighborhoods that are perceived to be unsafe or dangerous suffer adverse effects on their physical and mental health. A dangerous neighborhood is characterized by many factors, which include the local drug activity, resident victimization, gun related violence, the presence of disorder, and poor conditions (Zuberi, 2018). Thus, communities with a low-level risk of danger are often considered safe (Zuberi, 2018).

Wilson and Killing (1982) theorized that disorder in communities make them vulnerable to fear and crime, like gun violence. Disorder in the neighborhood or victimization are associated with increased levels of fear (Ross & Jang, 2000). Farver et al. (2002) found children between the ages of 7 and 11 did not feel safe to play outside when living in neighborhoods with higher levels of violence, which illustrates the relationship of violence in the community and the perception of safety. Lastly, individual perception of gun violence is contextual to the community in which the individual lives (Merkowitz & Dyck, 2017). This, along with political affiliation and socioeconomic status, drive the attitudes toward gun control (Merkowitz & Dyck, 2017).

Socioeconomic Status and Firearms

Socioeconomic status shapes the perceptions of one's community safety (Orr et al., 2003). As previously discussed, two-thirds of gun owners report owning more than one firearm

(Parker et al., 2017); however, this statistic is challenging because low-income individuals are less likely to report owning a gun as compared to higher-income individuals (Vacha & McLaughlin, 2004). The US Department of Health and Human Services (2019) indicated that an annual income of \$25,000 for a family of four is considered poverty. Orr et al. (2003) found that moving families from public housing and low socioeconomic communities to new communities where the poverty rate was less than 10%, experienced improvements in their perception of community safety. This was accomplished by offering the families housing vouchers, which allowed them to lease housing in low crime areas (Kling, Ludwig, & Katz, 2005).

During 2000 and 2008 Popkin et al. (2019) found that demolishing public housing by moving families to mixed income housing decreased gun crimes by 70%. According to the CDC (2016), the leading cause of death for African American ages 10 to 24 years old in low-income and urban environments is homicide due to gun violence, and gun violence is the second leading cause of death for Latinos in low-income communities (CDC, 2016). Walker, McLone, Mason, and Sheehan (2016) argue that race, specifically African American and Latino, can be viewed as proxies for low socioeconomic status and suggest public health efforts focus on reducing firearm violence by alleviating poverty.

Gender and Firearms

In 2000, Miller, Azael, and Hemenway found that gun owners are disproportionately white non-Hispanic (87%) and male (76%). Additionally, firearm related violence is more likely to be perpetrated by men (Miller, Azael & Hemenway, 2000; Violence Policy Center [VPC], 2017). Women report fears of being victimized while in their own homes, when living in a community with perceptive gun violence (Graves, 2019). According to Miller et al. (2000) women were less likely to feel safe when their neighbors owned or were thought to own guns.

Women who had been threatened by a gun disproportionately feared easy access to guns (Miller et al., 2000). Additionally, Miller et al. (2000) found women who have experienced gun-related victimization reported increased fear of gun acquisition by others and feeling less safe in their community as compared to men. Additionally, women are 18% more likely than men to attribute prevalence of gun violence to television, movies, and video games (Parker et al., 2017).

Annually 1,200 Americans die as a result of a murder-suicide (VPC). The VPC (2015) reports that of these 1,200 murder-suicides, 332 were carried out by a gun. The majority of the victims (76%) who died from firearms in a murder-suicide were female, while 21% of the victims who died from a firearm during a murder-suicide were male (VPC, 2015).

Lastly, both men and women reported that the top contributor to gun violence is the access to illegal guns (Parker, Horowitz, Igielnik, Oliphant & Brown, 2017). A telephone survey found 66% of women to be supportive of stricter and stronger gun laws, whereas 45% of men who responded to the same survey supported stronger gun laws (Miller et al., 2000).

Conclusion

Perceptions of gun violence in a local community have significant public health implications (Zuberi, 2018). Increased perception of violence in one's community leads to higher levels of stress, which increases an individual's cortisol levels, especially in African American women (Johnson, Shestov & Saadatmand, 2017). These increased cortisol levels impact individuals' sleep, insulin regulation, and cardiovascular health (Johnson et al., 2017). Perception of safety is also impacted by social connections, like violence and victimization in the local community (Zuberi, 2018). Fear of victimization, knowing someone who has been victimized, or perception of the prevalence of crime in a community impacts an individual's perception on neighborhood safety, especially in low-income communities (Pettit, 2004).

Exposure to gun violence and firearms impacts one's attitude toward violence as well as levels of self-worth (Lian, Abiero, & Kamara, 2017). Historically gun control legislation has been introduced following a major or mass tragedy, making it a reactive process versus a proactive process (Barry, Webster, Sone, Crifasi, Vernick & McGinty, 2018). Attitudes and perceptions on gun violence and gun control policies are influenced by gender and socioeconomic status (Barry et al., 2018)

This study will examine gender differences on perception of gun violence in one's local community. Additionally, it will also study how income level differences affect perceptions of gun violence in one's local community. Understanding the differences in gender and income on perception of gun violence is valuable for the development of gun control policies and legislation (Barry et al., 2018).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine differences on perception of gun violence in one's local community. This study will further explore differences in that perception across gender and income.

Research Questions

The aim of this study is to answer the following research questions:

- 1. Does perception of gun violence in a local community differ by gender?
- 2. Does perception of gun violence in the local community differ by income level?

Hypothesis

The hypothesis for the first research question is there is a statistically significant difference in perception of gun violence in one's local community based on gender. For the

second research question, the hypothesis is there is a statistically significant difference in perception of gun violence in one's local community based on income levels.

Method

Design

This study utilized data from The American Trends Panel (ATP) Wave 25 which is a cross-sectional, nationally representative, probability-based survey conducted by the Pew Research Center (Schalk, Segura, Ackerman, Nishimura, Williams, & Gaalswyk, 2017). In 2014, the Pew Research Center created a panel that randomly selected adults in the United States to participate in web-based self-administered surveys (Pew Research Center, 2019). The survey was conducted in 2014, 2015, 2017, and 2018, during which a total of 19,718 adults were surveyed (Pew Research Center, 2019).

Procedures

The ATP Wave 25 is conducted annually, multiple times a year with varying frequencies and topics. The ATP Wave 25 survey was available in both English and Spanish (Pew Research Center, 2018). The survey is completely voluntary and confidential; the dataset received from the Pew Research Center did not include any identifiable participant information. Access to the dataset was granted through the Pew Research Center by creating an account and is protected with a password. The ATP Wave 25 was conducted March 13-27, 2017, during when 4,151 participants were surveyed (Pew Research Center, 2018). The ATP Wave 25 is a voluntary random sample survey of adults over the age of 18 years living in United States households (Pew Research Center, 2018).

Data collection for the ATP Wave 25 was performed via a web-based survey (Schalk et al., 2017). For participants who did not have access to the Internet, tablets and wireless Internet connection was provided. Reminders to complete the ATP Wave 25 survey were sent to participants via postcard, email, and push notifications between March 13-24, 2017; the survey

closed March 27, 2017 (Schalk et al., 2017). The ATP participants who completed the Wave 25 survey in Spanish, along with those who received a tablet, were offered a \$20 post-paid incentive (Schalk et al., 2017). Additionally, a \$10 post-paid incentive was offered to participants who completed the survey in English and reported being Hispanic, African American, not registered to vote, between the ages of 18 and 29, and/or had a high school education or less (Schalk et al., 2017). The post-paid incentives were offered to respondents based on their form of preference: check or Amazon.com gift card (Schalk et al., 2017). The goal and design of these incentives was to increase participation among these groups, who traditionally have the propensity of low survey response (Schalk et al., 2017).

Participants

Participants in the ATP Wave 25 were recruited from an overlapping landline and random dial surveys conducted by the Pew Research Center (Schalk et al., 2017). Following the Pew Research landline and random dial surveys, the participants were asked if they were interested in participating in future surveys (Schalk et al., 2017).

The participants were non-institutionalized adults living in the United States (Schalk et al., 2017). A total of 4,151 participants were available from the ATP Wave 25 dataset. The sample size required to answer the research questions was calculated using G*Power Software Version 3.1.9.3. An alpha level of 0.05, power of 80%, and a medium effect size were used to determine a minimal sample size of 143. To ensure a Type II error was avoided, a random sample of 10% from the ATP Wave 25 dataset was selected. This resulted in a random sample size of 432.

Independent Variables and Dependent Variables

The independent variable for the first research question is gender. Gender was measured as "male" or "female." The independent variable for the second research question is income. Income is measured by the following survey question, "What is your annual income?" The response options were: "less than \$30,000," "\$30,000-74,999," or "greater than \$75,000." According to the United States Department Health and Human Services (HHS) (2019), a low income for a family of four is \$25,750 annually. Utilizing this data from HSS the income categories were collapsed to create two categories. The first category was "less than \$30,000" and the second category was "greater than \$30,000," which included the two previous categories "\$30,000-74,999" and "greater than \$75,000."

The dependent variable for the first and second research questions is the participants' perception of gun violence in their local communities. This dependent variable is measured by the following question: "How big of a problem do you think gun violence is in your local community?" The response options for this question were: "A very big problem," "A moderately big problem," "A small problem," or "Not a problem at all." These responses were also collapsed into two categories: "Not a problem at all to a small problem" and "A moderately big problem to a very big problem."

Data Analysis

Data in this study was analyzed using the IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software, version 26. A Pearson Chi-Square Test of Independence was used to analyze participants' responses to gender "male" and "female" and "how big of a problem do you think gun violence is in your local community?". According, to University of California, Los Angeles

Institute for Digital Research and Education (2019), a Pearson Chi-Square Test of Independence is the most appropriate statistical procedure to analyze categorical data.

For the second research question, a Pearson Chi-Square Test of Independence was computed. This analyzed the participants' responses to "What is your annual income?" and "How big of a problem do you think gun violence is in your local community?". Additionally, a Risk Analysis was computed to obtain the Odds Ratio (OR) with Confidence Interval (CI).

Research Ethics

On April 22, 2019, this study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at California Baptist University, located at 8432 Magnolia Ave, Riverside, CA 92504.

Results

The total numbers of participants in this study was 432. Table 1 illustrates the demographics details of the sample (see Appendix A). The majority of participants (77.8%) identified as white non-Hispanic. The next largest majority was Hispanic at 8.1% followed by Black non-Hispanic at 5.79% of the sample. Female participants accounted for 51.51% of the sample. One participant did not answer the gender question and was removed from analysis. Age groups for this sample were: 18-29 (13%), 30-49 (30%), 50-64 (31%), 65+ (24%). Additionally, 82.01% of the sample reported an annual income greater than \$30,000 while 18% reported an annual income less than \$30,000.

Gender and Perception of Gun Violence

A Pearson Chi-Square Test of Independence was performed to examine the first research question "Does perception of gun violence in the local community differ between gender categories?". The results of this analysis revealed that there is no significant difference in the degree of the perception of the problem of gun violence in local communities between genders $(X^2(1) = 1.88, p = 0.170)$.

As seen in Table 2, 57.66% of female participants indicated gun violence in their local community to be "not at all to a small problem" (see Appendix A). In comparison, 64.11% of male participants indicated gun violence to be "not at all to a small problem" in their local community. Additionally, 42.34% of female respondents indicated gun violence in their local community to be "a moderate to very big problem," while 35.89% of male participants indicated gun violence in their local to be "a moderate to very big problem."

Income and Perception of Gun Violence

To answer the second research question, "Does perception of gun violence in the local community differ across income level?", a Pearson Chi-Square Test of Independence was performed. It was hypothesized that the perception of gun violence in one's local community is statistically significant across income levels. As seen in Table 3, there is a statistically significant difference in perception of gun violence in the local community by income (χ^2 (1) = 7.60, p = .006) (see Appendix A).

As seen in Table 3, 64.37% of participants who reported an annual income greater than \$30,000 indicated gun violence in their local communities to be "not at all to a small problem." In comparison, 47.37 % of participants who reported an annual income less than \$30,000 indicated gun violence in their local communities to be "not at all to a small problem." Additionally, 35.63% of participants with an annual income level greater than \$30,000 indicated gun violence in their local community to be "a moderate to very big problem." The majority of participants (52.62%) who reported an annual income less than \$30,000 annually indicated gun violence to be "a moderately to very big problem" in their local community. Additionally, a Risk Analysis was computed which found individuals making less than \$30,000 annually are two times more likely to perceive gun violence in their local community to be "a moderate to very big problem."

Discussion

Summary of Major Findings

In the United States, about four million new guns enter the market annually (Goldberg, 2012). Gun control continues to take center stage in debates between policymakers in the US. However, there is a bipartisan agreement that guns should remain out of the hands of those who have, can be, or will be inclined to use the guns to do harm to themselves or others (Sen & Panjamapirom, 2012). This study examined if there are differences across genders on perception of gun violence in one's local community. Additionally, this study examined differences of perception of gun violence in one's local community across income levels.

This study did not find a significant difference between genders on perception of gun violence in one's local community. This is inconsistent with So, Gaylord-Harden, Voisin and Scott (2018), who found differences among genders and perceived exposure to community violence. One can gather from the results of this study that women do not perceive gun violence to be a greater issue in local communities as compared to men.

This study also found a significant difference in the perception of gun violence in one's local community across income levels. This study showed individuals with a higher socioeconomic status usually perceived gun violence to be not a problem at all in their local community. Additionally, this study found that individuals who report an income less than \$30,000 annually are two times more likely to perceive gun violence to be a moderately big problem in their local community. This is consistent with Orr et al. (2003) who found individuals moving from neighborhoods with low socioeconomic status to neighborhoods where the poverty rate was less than 10% perceived the community to have decreased crime and increased safety. Additionally, Santilli et al. (2017) found that individuals with an annual income of less than

\$30,000 were 76% more likely to report hearing a gun shot more than once than those who report an annual income \$50,000 or more. Additionally, Santilli et al. also found that 33% of individuals who reported an income less than \$30,000 also reported being present when someone was shot.

Public Health Implications

The public health implications of this study shows there are differences in perception of gun violence in one's local communities across income levels. The findings of this study support previous research, which have found socioeconomic status influences an individual's perception on local community safety and security. Additionally, this information can be used by policymakers to influence and utilize the perceptions of these individuals during the creation of gun laws.

Policy implications for this study are various. According to Popkin et al. (2013), decreasing public housing and using a mix-income model community has a significant effect on the rate of gun violence, decreasing it by 70%. This current study shows individuals making less than \$30,000 annual consider gun violence to be a moderately to very big problem in their local communities. Utilizing this information, local governments can develop and implement policy changes to mandate new construction builders, real estate firms, and property management companies to employ a mixed-income housing model. The local government can also supply incentives through expedited construction permits, a slightly lower taxation on building materials, or slightly lower income tax on participating organizations.

Additional policy implications could be firearm buyback programs. Multiple cities throughout the US have implemented firearm buyback programs where vouchers for food, transportation, or housing are provided. The budget for these vouchers is provided through

various means: city budget, seized money from illegal drug activity, or state grant programs (Craver, 2014).

Lastly, it is important to provide education on gun safety to low-income and rural areas. Perhaps mandating gun owners and the most at-risk populations to complete a free safety program, firearm violence prevention, or education program prior to the purchase of a firearm may reduce unnecessary gun violence. Unfortunately, this would not account for illegally obtained firearms. However, this could be address by incorporating firearms violence prevention and educational programs in schools, elementary through twelfth grade, since children and young adults are the most at-risk for gun violence.

Study Limitations

This study has various limitations. First, a cross-sectional research design has its weaknesses (Salazar, Crosby, & DiClemente, 2015). The cross-sectional design is limited in establishing cause and effect (Salazar et al., 2015). Though cross-sectional design is frequently used due to the efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and low to no attrition rates, this type of study design is unable to establish directionality (Salazar et al., 2015).

An additional limitation is the participants' local communities were not identified. A geographical location, like a zip code or description of the participant's local community would provide additional information on perceptions of gun violence in various types of communities. For example, future researchers can examine the data of perceptions of gun violence in urban communities versus suburban or rural areas. According to the CDC (2107), 60% of homicides due to firearms occur in metropolitan areas.

Finally, though this study was aligned with the current trends in perception of gun violence; it failed to represent the population most effected by gun violence. This study did not

have a good representation of each race-ethnicity with the majority of the ethnicity being white non-Hispanic (77.8%), nor did it survey the most affected age group, individuals 10-25 years old. This makes the results of the study difficult to generalize back to the population most at-risk. Additionally, collapsing income into two groups made it difficult to observe difference in the true poverty level. Furthermore, collapsing the response categories for "How big of a problem do you think gun violence is in your local community?" did not allow for representation of the degree in which the participants perceived the problem gun violence to be; for example, "not a problem at all" versus "a small problem."

References

- Barry, C., Webster, D., Stone, E., Crifasi, C., Vernick, J., & McGinty, E. (2018). Public support for gun violence prevention policies among gun owners and non-gun owners. *American Journal of Public Health*, *108*(7), 878-881. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2018.304432
- Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives. (2016). Gun control act of 1968.

 Retrieved from https://www.atf.gov/rules-and-regulations/gun-control-act
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). National center for health statistics:

 All injuries. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/injury.htm
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). Key injury and violence data.

 Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/overview/key_data.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). Youth violence: Facts at a glance 2016. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/yv datasheet.pdf
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention WONDER. (2019). Firearm deaths by intend, 1999-2017. Retrieved from https://wonder.cdc.gov/controller/datarequest/D76; jsessionid=F5BAEB3F39811F9DC8ECE3CB96C28E9
- Christoffel, K. (2007). Firearm injuries: Epidemic then, endemic now. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94(4), 626-629. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2005.085340
- Dias, J., & Whitaker, R. (2013). Black mothers' perceptions about urban neighborhood safety and outdoor play for their preadolescent daughters. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 24 (1), 206-219. doi:10.1353/hpu.2013.0018

- Downey, L., Zun, L., Burke, T., & Jefferson, T. (2013). Does gun accessibility lead to violence related injury? *Southern Medical Journal*, *106*(2), 161-172. doi: 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3182804968
- Farver, J., Ghosh, C., & Garcia, C. (2000). Children's perceptions of their neighborhoods.

 Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 21(2), 139-163.

 doi:10.1016/S0193-3973(99)00032-5
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (2017). Expanded homicide data table 4: Murder victims by weapon 2001-2016. Retrieved from https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2016/crime-in-the-u.s.-2016/tables/expanded-homicide-data-table-4.xls
- Fleeger, E., Lee, L., Monuteaux, M., Hemenway, D. & Mannix, R. (2013). Firearm legislation and firearm-related fatalities in the United States. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *173(9)*, 732-740. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.1286
- Goldberg, J. (2012). The case for more gun (and more gun control). *The Atlantic Monthly*, 310(5), 68-78. Retrieved from https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2012/12/the-case-for-more-guns-and-more-gun-control/309161/
- Gray, S. (2019). Here's a timeline of major gun control laws in America. Retrieved from http://time.com/5169210/us-gun-control-laws-history-timeline/
- Graves, E. (2019). Moving to improve? A qualitative meta-analysis of neighborhood violence and residential decision-making among housing voucher holders. *Journal of Planning Literature*, *34(1)*, 19-37. doi: 10.1177/0885412218795267
- Karp, A. (2018). Briefing paper: Estimating global civilian-held firearms numbers. *Small Arms Survey*. Retrieved from http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/fileadmin/docs/T Briefing-Papers/SAS-BP-Civilian-Firearms-Numbers.pdf

- Ketter, S. (2019). Growing and improving Pew Research Center American trends panel. Pew Research Center: Methods. Retrieved from
- Kling, J., Ludwig, J., & Katz, L. (2005). Neighborhood effects on crime for female and male youth: Evidence from a randomized housing voucher experiment. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 120, 87–130. Retrieved from https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/lkatz/files/neighborhood_effects_on_crime_for_female_and_male_youth_evidence_from_a_rando mized_housing_mobility_experiment.pdf
- Jackson, L., Shestov, M., & Saadatmand, F. (2017). Gender differences in the experience of violence, discrimination, and stress hormone in African Americans: Implication for public health. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 27(7), 768-778. doi: 10.1080/10911359.2017.1319778
- Lian, B., Abiero, B., & Kamara, P. (2017). Guns in the home and the possibility of aggressive tendencies: Exploring a community sample od adolescents in low income communities. *Social Work in Public Health*, 32(4) 301-309. doi: 10.1080/19371918.201.128973
- Lemieux, S. (2015, August 26). Gun control is political. So is refusing to address the politics of gun violence. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2015/aug/26/gun-control-political-refusal-to-address-politics-of-gun-violence
- Madenci, A., & Weldon, C. (2013, October). United States childhood gun-violence disturbing trends. *American Academy of Pediatrics*. Retrieved from https://aap.confex.com/aap/2013/webprogram/Paper22761.html
- Mendelson, A., & Keller, C. (2015). FAQ: The California assault weapons ban. KPCC:

- Southern California Public Radio. Retrieved from https://www.scpr.org/news/2015/12/31/56599/faq-the-california-assault-weapons-ban/
- Miller, M., Azrael, D., & Hemenway, D. (2000). Community firearms, community fear. *Epidemiology*, 11(6), 709-714.
- National Constitution Center. (2019). Amendment II: Right to bear arms. Retrieved from https://constitutioncenter.org/interactive-constitution/amendments/amendment-ii
- National Public Radio. (2008). U.S. gun laws: A history. Retrieved from https://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=91942478
- Orr, L., Feins, J., Jacob, R., Beecroft, E., Sabonmatsu, L., Katz, L. F., Liebman, J., & Kling, J. (2003). Moving to opportunity: Interim impacts evaluation. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.
- Parker, K., Horowitz, J., Igielnik, R., Oliphant, B., & Brown, A. (2017). Americans' complex relationship with guns: Views of guns and gun violence. Retrieved from https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2017/06/22/views-of-guns-and-gun-violence/
- Patten, R., Thomas, M. & Viotti. (2013). Sweating bullets: Female attitudes regarding concealed weapons and the perceptions of safety on college campuses. *Race, Gender and Class*, 20(3), 269-290. Retrieved from https://www-jstor-org.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/stable/pdf /43496945.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3A691f23c6863f650d1910f16956af10a8
- Pettit, B. (2004). Moving and children's social connections: Neighborhood context and the consequences of moving for low-income families. *Social Forum*, *19*(2), 285-311. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohostcom.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=058f52f7-a361-414b-a65c-7f55cc158b44%40sessionmgr4007

- Popkin, S., Rich, M., Hendy, L., Hayes, C., Parilla, J., &Galster, G. (2012). Public housing transformation and crime: Make the case for responsible relocations. *Cityscape*, *14*(3), 137-160. Retrieved from https://www-jstor-org.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/stable/pdf/41958943.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3Ac0ebef1ef07e67d000146ee6528b4196
- Ross, C., & Jang, S. (2000). Neighborhood disorder, fear, and mistrust: The buffering role of social ties with neighbors. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(4), 401-421. doi:10.1023/A:1005137713332
- Santilli, A., Duffany, K., Carroll-Scott, A., Thomas, J., Greene, A., Arora, A., Agnoli, A., Gan, G., & Ickovics, J. (2017). Bridging the response to mass shooting and urban violence: Exposure to violence in New Haven, Connectict. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(3), 374- 379. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303613
- Sen, B., & Panjamapirom, A. (2012) State background checks for gun purchase and firearm deaths: An exploratory study. *Preventive Medicine*, 55, 346-350.
 Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.07.019
- Schalk, M., Segura, E., Ackerman, A., Nishimura, R., Williams, D., & Gaalswyk, K. (2017). Pew Research Center's American trends panel: Methodology report.
- So, S., Gaylord-Harden, N., Voisin, D., &Dexter, D. (2018). Future orientation as a protective factor for African American adolescents exposed to community violence. *Youth & Society*, *50*(*2*), 734-757. doi: 10.1177/04418X15605108
- US Department of Health and Human Services. (2019). HHS poverty guidelines for 2019.

 Retrieved from https://aspe.hhs.gov/poverty-guidelines
- United States Department of House and Urban Development. (2019). FY 2018 income limits

- summary. Retrieved from https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/il/il2018/2018summary.odn
- United States Department of Justice. (2009). Female victims of violence. Retrieved from https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/fvv.pdf
- United States Census Bureau. (2019). U.S. and world population clock. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/popclock/
- University of California, Los Angeles Institute for Digital Research & Education. (2019).

 Choosing the correct statistical test in SAS, STATA, SPSS and R. Retrieved from https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/other/mult-pkg/whatstat/
- Vacha, E., & McLaughlin. (2004). Risky firearm behavior in low-income families of elementary school children: The impact of poverty, fear of crime, and crime victimization on keeping and storing firearms. *Journal of Family Medicine*, *19(3)*, 175-184. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohost-com.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=7d1ed74e-63c9-4d3f-8d0f-550b5e5a10c9%40sessionmgr4010
- Violence Policy Center. (2015). American Roulette: Murder-suicide in the United States.

 Retrieved from http://vpc.org/press/more-than-1200-americans-die-in-murder suicides-each-year-vpc-study-finds/
- Waxman, O. (2018). How the gun control act of 1968 changed America's approach to firearms- and what people get wrong about that history. Retrieved from http://time.com/5429002/gun-control-act-history-1968/
- Weisstein, E. (2019). Fishers exact test. Retrieved from http://mathworld.wolfram.com/FishersExactTest.html

- Wilson, J., & Kelling, G. (1982). The police and neighborhood safety: Broken windows. *Atlantic Monthly*, 249(3), 29-38.
- Zuberi, A. (2018) Feeling safe in a dangerous place: Exploring the neighborhood safety perceptions of low-income African American youth. *Journal of Adolescents**Research*, 33(1), 90-116

Appendix A: Tables

Table 1

Demographic Table for American Trends Panel Wave 25 n = 432

Gender		n	%	
	Male	209	48.38	
	Female	223	51.62	
Income				
	>\$30,000	348	82.01	
	<\$30,000	76	18	
Race-Ethnicity	•			
,	White non-Hispanic	336	77.78	
	Black non-Hispanic	25	5.79	
	Hispanic	35	8.1	
	Other	30	6.94	
	Don't Know/ Refuse	6	1.39	
Education				
	College Graduate +	212	49.07	
	Some College	149	34.49	
	High School or less	71	16.44	
Age Groups	2			
2. 2	18-29	60	13.92	
	40-49	131	30.39	
	50-64	136	31.55	
	>65	104	24.12	

Note. n = sample size, % = percentage. Data Source: 2017 American Trends Panel Wave 25.

Table 2

Perception of Gun Violence in the Local Community by Gender

110	"A moderately to big	u think gun violence is in your local community? "A small problem to		
	problem"	Not a problem at all"		
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Male	75 (64.11)	134 (35.89)	209 (48.49)	
Female	94 (57.66)	128 (42.34) 222		
n	169 (39.21)	262 (60.79) 431		

Note. Data Source: 2017 American Trends Panel Wave 25.

Table 3

Perception of Gun Violence in the Local Community by Income

How big of a problem do you think gun violence is in your local community?					
	"A moderately to big	"A small problem to			
	problem"	Not a problem at all"		Adjusted OR	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	95% CI	
>\$30,000	124 (35.63)	224 (64.37)	348 (82.08)	.498	
<\$30,000	40 (52.62)	36 (47.37)	76 (17.92)	(.302, .822)	
n	164 (38.68)	260 (61.32)	424		
$\overline{\chi^2(1)} = 7.60$	p = .006				

Note. n = Sample Size; OR = Odds Ration; CI = Confidence Interval. Chi-Square Test of Independence to determine relationship between Income and Perception of Gun Violence in One's Local Community. Data Source: 2017 American Trends Panel Wave 25.

Appendix B: IRB Approval

RE: IRB Review

IRB No.: 093-1819-EXM

Project: The Effects of Gender and Income on Perception of Firearm Violence

Date Complete Application Received: 4/11

Principle Investigator: Courtney Hinrichs

Faculty Advisor: Ashley Parks

College/Department: CHS

IRB Determination: Exempt Application Approved – Student research using de-identified secondary data; public access by permission and account creation from Pew Research (The American Trends Panel). Data analysis may begin, in accordance with the final submitted documents and approved protocol.

Future Correspondence: All future correspondence about this project must include all PIs, Co-PIs, and Faculty Advisors (as relevant) and reference the assigned IRB number.

Approval Information: In the case of an unforeseen risk/adverse experience, please report this to the IRB immediately using the appropriate forms. Requests for a change to protocol must be submitted for IRB review and approved prior to implementation. At the completion of the project, you are to submit a Research Closure Form.

Researcher Responsibilities: The researcher is responsible for ensuring that the research is conducted in the manner outlined in the IRB application and that all reporting requirements are met. Please refer to this approval and to the IRB handbook for more information.

Date: April 22, 2019